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Gold mining was originally the mainstay of the economy of southern Oregon. 
I t started settlements, bui It roads and schools, promoted local government, and 
established law and order. It was about the only source of new wealth and was 
a common means of earning a livelihood. It is now at best only a token of its 
past. Not only is gold mining as an industry dead, but its history and the knowl­
edge of its individual mines, which formerly represented a large part of the a­
rea's payrolls t are fading into the hazy past. The critical point in its downfall 
was World War II's Administrative Order L-208, which was designed to stop the 

. m:ning of gold, thus forcing gold miners to seek employment in base-metal mines, 
especially copper, in which there was supposed to be a shortage of miners. The 
order failed essentially to accomplish its objective, but the final result was to 
deal a crushing blow to gold mining. Shutdowns, always a serious operating 
matter in an underground mine because of the maintenance problem, compound­
ed the gold miners' difficulties. After the war and the termination of L-208, 
costs of labor and supplies had multiplied but the price of gold remained the 
same. Thus gold mining was effectively killed. 

The following outline of events in the rise and fall of gold mining insouth­
western Oregon is here recorded - almost as an obituary - so that Oregonians 
may not entirely forget how important this industry was in building up this part 
of the state. 

History 

California gold rush 

In 1848-49 a large number of Oregonians went south to the Sacramento 
Valley in the great California gold rush. As has been told many times l sogreat 
was the exodus that fully two-thirds of the inhabitants of the Willamette Val­
ley joined the stamped.e l paralyzing business and industry in this newly settled 
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region. One party of south-bound fortune-hunters found gold in the sands of 
a Rogue River crossing (Scott, 1917, p. 150) but they were not diverted by the 
find from their main objective. 

As the miners moved from one camp to another in central California, at­
tracted by word-of-mouth reports of rich "strikes" made on another stream, a 
small reverse flow of prospectors set in. This began as a few groups started 
probing into northern California, especially along the Klamath River. Thus, 
while the great influx of people continued into California, a part of the cur­
rent ~ a small eddy - changed from southbound to northbound, and inevitably 
drew gold seekers into southern Oregon. 

The migration of fortune-hunters was generally overland, but one historic 
trip was made by a party who sai led north from San Francisco to the mouth of 
the Umpqua River in 1850. This expedition had, as principals, Herman Win­
chester, Dr. Henry Payne, Jesse Applegate, Levi Scott, and Joseph Sloan. It 
resulted in the founding of Umpqua City (at the mouth of the river), Gardiner, 
Scottsburg (at the head of tidewater), Elkton, and Winchester, and this string 
of settlements became a main supply route for the mining camps. 

Placer mining in southern Oregon 

Stream placers: In 1850 a party of prospectors from California investigated 
streams near the California-Oregon border, found pay gravels on Josephine 
Creek, and began to work them near its junction with the Illinois River. This 
may have been the first gold mining in the state (Spreen, 1939, p. 5). 

The discovery that made the real gold boom in Oregon, however, was on 
Jackson Creek, near what is now the town of Jacksonville. In December 1851 
two packers from Scottsburg on their way to the mines of northern California 
found a small gold nugget in the gravels of Jackson Creek. Later they told 
freighters Jim Cluggage and J. R. Poole of the find, and, in January 1852, 
Cluggage and Poole camped at the spot. They found rich gravels in the creek 
at what was named Rich Gulch and the rush to Jacksonville began as the news 
spread rapidly. People came from all directions--from the Willamette Valley, 
from the Cal ifornia gold camps, and from the Eastern States. Jackson County 
soon became the most populous county in Oregon. Gold production increased 
and the producing area spread into Josephine and Douglas Counties (see figure 1). 

After Jacksonvi lie came Sai lors Diggings* (Waldo, near the headwaters 

.. Named because a, party of sailors deserted ship at Crescent City when they heard of 
the rich strikes at Jacksonvi lie. They journeyed across the Siskiyous and camped on the up­
per Illinois River, where they found rich gravels, and the boom camp of Sailors Diggings was 
born. A single nugget was found weighing 15 pounds and valued at $3,100, as reported by 
Spreen. He also states that the largest nugget ever found in southwestern Oregon was that 
discovered by Mattie Collins on the East Fork of Althouse Creek in 1859. It weighed 204 
ounces (17 pounds troy) and was valued at $3,500. 
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of the Illinois River), Kerbyville, Williams Creek, Althouse Creek, Applegate 
River, and numerous tributaries of the Rogue System on"which such camps as 
Buncom became good producers. Farther up the Rogue, camps sprang up on 
Pleasant Creek, Evans Creek, Willow Creek, and Foots Creek. Numerousother 
creeks of the Rogue system were found to be productive, notably Starveout, 
Jumpoff Joe, Coyote, Wolf. Probably the most important of all was Grav.e 
Creek and its tributary, Tom East Creek. Some of the other stream valleys were 
later dredged, notably Foots Creek, Evans Creek, Pleasant Creek, and members 
of the Applegate system. Practically all important tributaries of the lower Rogue 
were hydraulicked at one time or another, and, although decreasing greatly in 
recent years, family operations and a very few partnerships are continuing for 
a few months a year. The Sterling was one of the largest of the hydraulic mines, 
continuing over many years. It worked the gravels on Sterling Creek for 4 of 
the 7 miles of its length above Buncom at the junction with the Little Applegate 
River. Total production was valued at $3,000,000 in 1916 (Oregon Dept. of 
Geology, 1943, p. 190). No production records are available for later years. 

Cow Creek in Douglas County had some prolific placers in the early days. 
Starveout Creek, a tributary of Cow Creek, was said to have had very rich 
gravels when first worked. 

Beach placers: Gold prospecting on the inland streams spi lied over onto 
the ocean beaches as prospectors fanned out. "Colors" were easily found by 
panning the beach sands almost anywhere on the southern coast. Horner (1918) 
writes that the first beach mining on the Pacific Coast was at Gold Bluff, Hum­
boldt County, California. Spreen (1939, p. 11) reports that gold was found in 
the beach sands of Curry and Coos Counties at Gold Beach, Pistol River I Ophir, 
Port Orford, Cape Blanco, Bandon, Old Randolph, and South Slough (see Fig­
ure 2). Exact dates of each discovery are not available, but they probably 
were from 1852 ta 1854. It is recorded that the earl iest beach mining in Ore­
gon was at Whiskey Run, about 10 miles north of Bandon, in 1852. Here the 
boom town of Randolph was born and flourished for awhile, then suffered a de­
cline. There is no record of production for the pioneer period. It may have 
been substantial, amounting to many thousands of dollars, since reports of good 
returns were current. The discoverers,· reportedly halfbreed Indians, worked 
their ground for two summers without news of their find getting abroad. After 
word got out, the rush started and they sold out to McNamara Brothers for 
S20,000. Spreen's (p. 11) report contains an estimate "that during the fifties 
and sixties more than one hundred thousand dollars were taken from this one 
claim." It is stated that pans of black sand from this claim yielded from 8 to 
10 dQllars each. Pardee (1934, p. 26) groups Whiskey Run with other beaches 
in his statement that "they are popularly reported to have yielded a large a­
mount of gold. II 

The mining history of the various other southern Oregon beaches was 
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similar to that of Whiskey Run. First was the discovery, next the boom period 
when flush production was obtained, and then came the decline--sometimes 
rather quickly when workers encountered concentrations of heavy black sand* 
which resulted in high mechanical losses of gold and in discouragement. 

Since the boom period of the past century, sporadic attempts to work the 
black sand deposits for gold and platinum have been made in both Coos and 
Curry Counties, and on both the present beaches and the ancient elevated ter­
races. A typical operation on a present beach, as at Cape Blanco, is described 
as follows by J. E. Morrison (Oregon Dept. Geology & Mineral Ind., 1940, 
p. 81): 

"The beach sands just south of Cape Blanco have been worked off and on 
for almost a century. For five years prior to March 29, 1938, the property had 
been operated by Carl Hopping .... It is said that Hopping was very successful, 
but most of his records as to production were lost in the Bandon fire. However, 
he did have records covering the period from January 4 to July 8, 1937, dur­
ing which time he ran approximately 700 yards of sand. His mint receipts a­
mounted to $1,650.32. Platinum and osmium amounted to $1,133.93. The 
gold averaged about 860 in fineness. " 

Offshore beds: A characteristic of the present beaches in relation to their 
economic importance is that they are transitory, and may vary in volume and 
distribution with the seasons and weather. A heavy storm may pile up sand from 
offshore beds on the beach, and another storm under different conditions may 
return the sand to the ocean. Thus the difficulty of estimating the volume and 
mineral content of sand on beaches is evident. Whether or not a feasible plan 
to recover economic minerals from offshore beds may be developed is problem­
atical. If all the economic minerals could be recovered and sold, such a proj­
ect could have future commercial possibilities. 

* The principal original source of the heavy minerals such as gold, platinum, chromlte, 
magnetite, ilmenite, olivine, garnet, and zircon found in southern Oregon beaches, was 
the Klamath Mountains. Gold occurs in veins in the rocks, and chromite, platinum, olivine, 
and other common heavy minerals ore genetically related to the large bodies of peridotite 
Clnd serpentine in the Klamath Mountains. Erosion breaks down these rocks, and the streams 
transport the resulting sands and gravels toward the ocean. Finally they become beach sands, 
where the heavy mineials collect in beds called "black sand" because they are predominantly 
black in color. It 1s not difficult for the placer miner ta detect gold and platinum in a gold 
pan; the problem is to separate them from the other heavy minerals by methods available to 
small-sca!e miners. Losses of the metollics in tailings may be so large that profits disappear. 
Placer operations that succeeded in early days did so because the sands were so rich that, 
even though the losses were heavy, a profitable quantity of gold was recovered. 

Distribution of black sand beds has been greatly influenced by changes in oceon level 
throughout geologic time, evidence of which is given by ancient shore terraces at several 
elevations. Black sand layers in these old terraces have been of considerable economic in­
terest in recent times because of their chromite content. 
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Ancient terraces: Ancient elevated beach terraces contain black sand 
beds and, in places, gold and platinum metals. Before World War II, many 
attempts were made to work these deposits commercially. The remnants of these 
old mines may be found along the coast ranging from South Slough in Coos 
County to Gold Beach and beyond in Curry County (Figure 2). Many of them 
had interesting histories. One of the best known and typical of attempts to re­
cover the precious metals from old beach terraces was the Pioneer mine on Cut 
Creek, about 5 mi les north of Bandon in Coos County. It adjoins the Eagle 
mine on the south and since they were both on the same bed similar methods 
were used in treatment. Following is a description by Pardee (1934, p. 38) 
of one of several attempts to mine the deposit. 

"The pay streak is a layer of black sand 3 feet or more thick, the richer 
part of which was mined through drifts said to have been made more than 60 
years ago. Some of the mining timbers as well as an occasional huge log of 
drift wood are exposed by the present workings. Samples of the black sand re­
maining averaged about 3 percent of magnetite and 55 percent of chromite and 
ilmenite together. Gold and platinum alloy were being recovered by sluicing. 
A sample of the platinum alloy as determined by a spectrographic examination 
by George Steiger in the laboratory of the United States Geological Survey is 
composed of a relatively very large amount of platinum and smaller amounts of 
iridium and ruthenium. It contains in addition a possible trace of rhodium but 
no osmium or paliadium •••• A sample from a hole 3 feet deep at one place con­
tained 4 percent of magnetite and 60 percent of chromite and ilmenite. It is 
said that the tailings in the Lagoons contain unrecovered gold and platinum •.. " 
The thick overburden of barren gray sand (thicker than indicated by Pardee) 
was a great drawback, also the quantity of minable reserve was limited. The 
tailings flowed down Cut Creek and were impounded in a basin called the La­
goons, from which they were mined for their chromite content during World 
War II. 

Some of the other early-day black sand mines on elevated terraces, named 
from north to south, were the Chickamin, Rose, Eagle, Iowa, Geiger, Butler, 
Madden, and Peck. 

Lode mining in southern Oregon 

Earliest mining in Cal ifornia and Oregon meant placer mining. First there 
were the high-grade stream gravels, which gave rich returns and generated an 
influx of miners. The best gravels were exploited relatively soon. Some of 
the miners moved on to other camps. Others, especially those with families, 
stayed on to build communities and become permanent residents. They also 
began to search for the lodes or veins which, in the process of weathering and 
erosion, formed the placer deposits. 

Southwestern Oregon had some fame among prospectors and miners as a 
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"pocket" country, that is, a region where rich concentrations of lode gold were 
sometimes found, usually as near-surface deposits. Many of these were discov­
ered in Jackson and Josephine Counties down through the years. A class of 
prospectors known as "pocket hunters" became adept at finding and following 
traces which might lead to a pocket of gold. Most pockets were small - worth 
ol1lya few hundred or, rarely, a few thousand dollars, but always the incen­
tive was sufficient to keep them searching. Naturally the locations of most of 
the smaller ones were never reported and remained nameless. However, some 
exceptionally large and rich pockets were discovered and became famous. In 
the aggregate even the smaller pockets created a great deal of wealth in per­
iods of the state's history when even a thousand dollars meant wealth to a set­
tler or, in later years, to a family out of work. This was especially true during 
the early 1930's, when there was much unemployment. Pocket hunting became 
popular and, along with small-scale placer mining, helped the free-enterprise 
people of southern Oregon through a difficult period. 

The discovery and development of lodes is generally more complicated and 
costly than the same undertaking for placers. Excavations in the form of cuts, 
tunnels, shafts, and various other underground workings in rock must be opened, 
involving much labor and the expenditure of time and money, hence the term 
"hard-rock miners. " 

Over the years many gold lodes were discovered in southwestern Oregon -
too many to list here. Most of these were closed because of economic condi­
tions or because of government restrictions. A few of those representative of 
gold mining (see Figure 1) are briefly described below. 

Benton Mine:: The mine, owned by the Lewis Investment Co., Portland, 
is on Drain Creek about 21 miles southwest of Glendale in sees. 22, 23, 26, 
and 27, T. 33 S., R. 8 W., Josephine County. Eight patented and 16 unpat­
ented claims are included in the Benton Group. Joe Ramsey made the discov­
ery in 1893. Mr. J. C. Lewis acquired the property in 1894 and developed it 
until 1905, completing approximately 5,000 feet of development work, atwhich 
time the mine was shut down. When the price of gold was increased in 1934, 
the mine was reopened and development work was resumed. A cyanide plant 
was installed and production maintained until April 15, 1942, when govern­
ment regulations forced the closing down of mining and milling operations. Be­
tween 1935 and 1942, including time spent on exploration and construction, 
ore mined and milled totaled 64,282 tons averaging $8.55 for a gross value of 
$549,414.00. All development rock high enough in value to pay milling cost 
was sent to the mill ratlner than to the waste dump. About 10,000 lineal feet 
of work was done in the Benton mine proper, and about 1,150 feet on adjacent 
claims. 

Ore bodies were formed in quartz veins by replacement in a quartz diorite 
or granodiorite stock which is in contact with metavolcanics and greenstone on 
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the east. Eight veins have been found on the property. The main Benton vein 
has been explored and mined through the Kansas adit for an over-all strike 
length of 2,000 feet trending N. 20° to 40° E., and for 600 feet in depth. 
The main ore shoots were formed within a network of intersecting veins related 
to premineral faulting, and their emplacement was governed by structural con­
trol. The ore bodies have a pronounced rake (inclination in the plane of the 
vein) to the south. Minor postmineral faulting has been encountered but noth­
ing that presented a serious problem. 

On the bottom level (1,020) development revealed ore of better grade than 
the average value of ore mined in upper levels. A drift on the Louisiana No. 
1 vein, 200 feet long, with a strike N. 80° E. and dip of 55° N. W., to its 
junction with the Benton Vein showed are which averaged $25 a ton for widths 
of from 2~ to 3 feet, with the face sti II in ore when work stopped. A winze 
on the l,020revei sunk on the Benton vein from a point 50 feet south of the 
Kansas crosscut to a depth of 64 feet was channel sampled at about 5-foot in­
tervals in both compartments of the winze. The north compartment samples 
averaged about $40 a ton for 4~ feet average; the samples from the north com­
partment averaged about $18 a ton for approximately 5 feet average width* . 

The cyanide plant of 40 tons capacity was completed in 1937 and enlarged 
to 60 tons capacity in 1940. It incorporated a counter-current system using 
Dorr thickeners, Dorr agitators, an Oliver continuous filter, together with 
Merrill-Crowe precipitation equipment. Reportedly mill recovery was about 
85 percent, which could be increased to 90 percent if changes indicated by 
the operating experience were made. An adequate water supply was obtained 
from Drain Creek. Diesel power was used.* 

It may be noted that in 1941 the Benton Mine had the largest individual 
payroll in the county. 

Ashland Mine: Owners are Fred and Dewey Van Curler, Ashland, Oregon. 
The mine area comprises 276 acres of patented ground situated about 3 miles 
northwest of the City of Ashland in the E~ sec. 12, T. 395., R. 1 W., Jack­
son County, at an approximate elevation of 3,500 feet. 

The mine was located in 1886 by William Patton (Burch, 1942, p. 105-128) 
and was active almost continuously until 1902 when the shaft reached a depth 
of 900 feet. It was closed down because of litigation with owners of adjoining 
claims and was not reopened unti I about 1932 when P. B. Wickham became 
manager. A lO-stamp mill operated by electric power was installed. 

Total development is approximately 11,000 lineal feet and includes two 
shafts, an adit, raises and drifts. A depth of 1,200 feet on the dip of about 
45° was reached. Reportedly (Oregon Dept. Geology & Mineral Ind., 1943, 

* Elton A. Youngberg, written. communication, 1963. 
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p. 24) several veins have been found but only two have been explored. The 
one on which most of the work has been done represents a fissure filling of 
quartz and brecciated granodiorite country rock. Two principal ore shoots 
have been mined. They show metallization of pyrite and metallic gold with 
occasional galena. Originally ore was graded as "shipping," which averaged 
about $100 a ton (gold at $20 an ounce), and "milling," which averaged about 
$13 a ton. Mill concentrates assayed about $75 a toni-although concentrate 
values of $150 to $350 have been reported. Value of ore and size of ore shoots 
are said to increase with depth. Up to 1933 total value of production was re­
ported as $1,300,000. From 1933 to 1939 production was reported to be steady 
but "modest," all from milling operations (Oregon Dept. Geol. & Mineral Ind., 
( 1943), p. 25). 

The lO-stamp mill had the usual amalgamation plates, a concentration ta­
ble, and cyanide tanks. Most of the gold recovery was from amalgamation, 
with a small percentage from concentration. Total recovery was reported tobe 
90 percent. Cyanidation proved to be of I ittle assistance. 

The owners used the mill for concentrating chrome ore during World War II. 

Greenback Mine: The location is on Tom East Creek about 1.5miles north 
of the old settlement of Placer and about 5 miles east of U.S. Highway 99 at 
the Grave Creek bridge. The property includes 243 acres of patented ground 
and 76acres held by location. Legal description is sees. 32 and 33, T. 335., 
R. 5W., and sec. 4, T. 345., R. 5W., Josephine County. 

Parks and Swartley (1916, p. 112-114) reported that the property was owned 
and operated by a New York group. In 1924 it was acquired by L. E. Clump, 
who held the mine until 1954. During part of that time the mine was operated 
by the following lessees: Finley and McNeil of San Francisco in 1937; P. B. 
Wickham in 1939; and in 1941 Anderson and Wimer, who discontinued work in 
1942. The mine was purchased from Clump in 1954 by Wesley Pieren, Grants 
Pass, the present owner, who is carrying on some exploration. 

The early history began with a rich surface discovery in 1897. The ore 
was first worked in an arrastra and later, after mine development work, a 40-
stamp mill was installed, together with concentration tables and cyanide tanks. 
Capacity was rated at 100 tons per day. Electric power was brought in from 
the Savage Rapids Dam on the Rogue River. 

Total underground development work aggregated about 7,000 lineal feet 
on 12 levels to a depth of 1,000 feet on the dip of the vein, which strikes a­
bout east and dips about 450 N. to the ninth level and 550 to 60 0 below the 
ninth. The counTry rock is greenstone and the quartz vein was productive for 
about 600 fe~t in length along the strike. Thickness averaged about 3 feet. 
Value was reported to average somewhat more than $8 a ton (gold at $20 an 
ounce). The vein was cutoff by afault on the west and by serpentine on the east. 
Commercial values were principally gold partly recovered by amalgamation. 
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Concentrates made up of chalcopyrite/ pyrite/ and some arsenopyrite averaged 
about $75 a 'ton (gold at $20 an ounce). -

According to Mr. Wickham/ production amounted to 3~ million dollars. 
Mr. Pieren reports that about $ 100,000 was produced during L.E. Clump's own­
ership and that the average mill ore was $13.70 a ton. 

One of the largest placer deposits inthe state was formed on Tom East Creek 
below the outcrop of the Greenback Mine. It operated as Columbia Placers 
for many years. 

Sylvanite Mine: The property is in sec. 2, T. 36 S., R. 3 W., about 3 
miles northeast of Gold Hill in Jackson County, and comprises 132 acres of pa­
tented ground which, the record shows, includes four full mining claims and 
two fractional claims. The owner of record in 1951 was George Tulare, Route 
2, Box 371, Gold Hill. 

The discovery and early history of the mine are not of public record. Var­
ious published reports show that, beginning in 1916, owners and operators were, 
successively, E. T. Simons, with Stone and Avena, Denver, Colorado, lessees 
who found scheelite (tungsten ore) associated with the gold ore; Oregon-Pittsburg 
Co. in 1928; Discon Mining Co., A. D. Coulter, Manager, discoverer of the 
high-grade ore shoot along the Cox Lyman vein in 1930; Western United Gold 
Properties; Sylvanite Mining Co.; and finally Imperial Gold Mines, Inc., in 
1939. This last company built a concentrating mill of 140 tons daily capacity 
and cleaned out underground workings to expose the openings where the rich 
ore shoot had been found. 

The Sylvanite vein or shear zone occurs between meta-igneous and meta­
sedimentary (largely argillite) rocks. It shows intense shearing and alteration 
and is intruded in places by basic igneous dikes. It trends just east of north 
and dips southeasterly at about 45°. The Cox-Lyman shear zone strikes at right 
angles to the Sylvanite vein and stands nearly vertical. No certain sequence 
of faulting in the two shear zones has been established. Ore shoots are said to 
be from 5 to 12 feet thick and have averaged from $5 to $15 a ton. They have 
a gangue of quartz and calcite and carry galena, chalcopyrite, and pyrite. A 
fracture zone roughly parallel to the Sylvanite vein cuts the Cox-Lyman vein 
and at the intersection a rich' ore shoot was found on the hanging wall, produc­
ing $1,000 per lineal foot of winze in sinking 600 feet. Discontinuous pockets 
of ore were found in the hanging wall of the shoot for 200 additional feet of 
depth. The winze reached 900 feet below the surface. This ore shoot was re­
ported to have yielded about $700,000. 

A total of more than 2,560 lineal feet of underground development work 
has been done. In addition, numerous surface pits and cuts, now caved, have 
been dug by pocket hunters. 

Seemingly little effort has been made to explore thescheelite possibilities, 
although it is known that the Imperial Gold Mines Co. had such plans. They 
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ran into difficulties underground because of caving ground, and presumably' 
war-time conditions finally forced them to close down. 

Hicks Lead: The first gold "pocket," also the first gold lode, discovered 
in Oregon was the so-called Hicks Lead found on the left fork of Jackson Creek 
above Farmers Flat in Jackson County. Sonora Hicks, the discoverer, working 
with his brother, took out $1,000 in two hours, according to the Jacksonville 
Sentinel of that time. Walling (1884, p. 328) relates that Hicks sold his claim 
to Maury, Davis, and Taylor, owners of the adioining claim, who then built 
the first arrastra in Oregon in order to treat the Hicks ore. The yield from the 
Hicks claim was $2,000. . 

Gold Hill Pocket: The most famous of all was the astonishing Gold Hill 
Pocket, discovered in January, 1857 by Emigrant Graham and partners near 
the top of the hill 2 miles northeast of the town of Gold Hill in SW~NE~ sec. 
14, T. 36 S., R. 3 W., Jackson County, at about 2,000 feet elevation. Ac­
cording to available records (Oregon Dept. Geology & Mineral Ind., 1943, 
p. 70), the outcropping rock was so full of gold that it could scarcely bebrok­
en by sledging. The crystallized quartz associated with the gold was not honey­
combed as it generally is where sulfides have leached out of the rock, leaving 
sprays of gold in the cavity. The gold in this pocket went down only 15 feet 
and occurred in a fissure vein striking about N. 20° W., dipping about BOO E., 
with a vertical gash vein cutting the fissure nearly due east. The fissure vein 
averages 5 feet between walls with 1 to 2 feet of gouge on the footwall, which 
contains calcite and quartz mixed with a little pyrite, in spots containing free 
gold. A mass of granite, about 5 feet wide by 200 feet long, crops out in the 
footwall side of the fissure. The country rock is pyroxenite. It is said that this 
pocket produced at least $700,000. 

Revenue Pocket: Another large "pocket" was named the Revenue. It was 
found and mined out (date unknown) by the Rhotan brothers 5 miles south of 
Gold Hill on Kane Creek in sec. 11, T. 37 S., R. 3W., Jackson County, at 
an elevation of about 2,570 feet. Reportedly it produced $100,000 (Parks and 
Swartley, 1916, p. 193) and was one of the larger pockets discovered by Rho­
ton brothers, who evidently were well-known pocket hunters. 

Steamboat Pocket: This important enrichment in a network of quartz veins 
in andesite was found in the Steamboat mine about 1860. The location is on 
Brush Creek, a tributary of Carberry Creek, 2 miles west of Steamboat and 42 
miles by road west of Medford. It is in sec. 20, T. 40 S., R. :4 W., Jackson 
County. The property has had several names and once was known as the Fow­
ler mine, derived from the name of one of the owners of the Fowler and Keeler 
Trading Post on the Applegate River, 17 miles distant, and under this name 
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was a litigant in long and costly law suits over title. The yield from the pock­
et (Parks and Swartley, 1916, p. 212) is reported to have been $350,000. 

Johnson and Bowden Pockets: Two pockets in the Jacksonville locality are 
described under the name of Town Mine by Parks and Swartley (1916, p. 136). 
Date of discovery and extraction is not recorded. The deposits were discovered 
at points about 600 feet apart, approximately 2 miles west of the reservoir on 
Jackson Creek in sec. 25, T. 37 S., R. 3 W., Jackson County. The Johnson 
deposit yielded $30,000 and the Bowden $60,000. 

Roaring Gimlet Pocket: Diller (1914, p. 46) described a rich deposit known 
as the Roaring Gimlet pocket, discovered in 1893. It was found at the mouth 
of China Gulch, Jackson Count}', about 2~ miles south of the Gold Hill pock­
et. The high-grade ore was apparently liberated from oxidized sulfides, leav­
ing very little quartz, and formed an enriched gouge seam from a quarter of an 
inch to 6 inches thick between a porphyry footwall and a slate hanging wall. 
At a depth of 40 feet the vein continued down between dioritic walls and con­
tained some small kidneys of calcite and quartz with pyrite - a gangue looking 
very much like that of the Gold Hill pocket. Several small pockets were ex­
tracted just east of the large Gimlet pocket. The combined yield is said to have 
been $40,000. 

Jewett Ledge Pocket: Known as the Jewett Ledge, this pocket was found 
in 1860 by the Jewett brothers on the south side of the Rogue River in sec. 27, 
28,33, and 34, T. 36S., R. 5W., Josephine County. AsreportedbyWal­
ling (1884, p. 330), the Jewetts were "signally successful" and took out $40,-
000. It is said that they exhausted the deposit and ceased work. In lateryears 
considerable work was done on the property and seven claims were patented. 

Robertson Mine: In more recent times an underground high-grade lens of 
gold ore was found at the Robertson (or Bunker Hill) mine in March, 1940, 
somewhat different in character from the surficial deposits previously described. 
The mine owners, William Robertson and Virgil E. Hull, struck an enrichment 
in their quartz vein, and took out 640 ounces of gold valued at about $20,480 
in four days of mining. The mine is west of Galice in sec. 2, T. 35 S., R. 9 
W., Josephine County, at an elevation of 4,500 feet. A specimen of this 
high-grade ore is on display in the Portland museum of the Oregon Department 
of Geology and Mineral Industries. 

Producti on 

Early-day statistics of gold production in Oregon were meager and, for 
the most part I based on record~ of agencies such as Wells Fargo, banks, and 
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post offices which handled gold shipments to the San Francisco Mint. An or­
ganized canvass of mineral production in Western States by the Government be­
gan about 1880, although U.S. Mineral Commissioners J. Ross Browne (in the 
1860's) and Rossiter W. Raymond (in the 1870's) reported on the mineral in­
dustry in Western States and included incomplete production statistics. These 
pioneer efforts grew into the reliable annual Mineral Resources volumes of the 
U.S. Geological Survey, the statistical duties of which were, in 1933, as­
signed to the U.S. Bureau of Mines. Since then mineral industry statistics have 
been assembled and published annually in the Bureau's comprehensive Minerals 
Yearbook. 

Figures for annual production of gold in Oregon, beginning in 1881, aie 
be! i eved to be rei i able. However, producti on stati sti cs segregated by counti es 
were not published until 1902. Thus, any estimate of gold production forsouth­
western Oregon for the period 1852 to 1902 must be based on sketchy reports of 
the U. S. Mineral Commissioners, plus some arbitrary assumptions noted below. 

Gold Production of Southwestern Oregon 

Periods 

1852-1862 (estimate bosed on early reparts) 

J863-190i (estimated by assuming a fixed ratio of 
production between the total for the state and 

(0) 

that of southwestern Oregon) (b) 
1902-1933 (U.S.B.M. records) (c) 
1934-1942 (U.S.B.M. records) (d) 

. 1943-1961 (U.S .8.M. records) (e) 

Totol 1852-1961 

Ounces 
{Troy} 

1,560,000 

943,000 
495,590 
183,900 
12,520 

3,195,010 

Dollars 

31,200,000 

18,000,000 
12,670,000 
6,436,000 

438,000 

69,544,000 

(a) Mostly from U.S. Mineral Commissioner's and U.S.G.S. Mineral Resources reports, whichare 
fragmentary. Undoubtedly, some Oregon productian was credited to California, because all 
the gold produced was shipped to the San Francisco Mint, and the records of origin were some 
times questionable. This period was before any production was reported from eastern Oregon. 
Value is calculated at $20 an ounce. 

(b) After 1901, production records ore authentic, both for the state's totol and for southwestern 
Oregon. An over-all ratio for these two prodoction units was calculated for the period 1902 
to 1942 (Order L-208 closed gold mines), and this calculated ratio was arbitrarily applied to 
production for the period 1863-1901 in order to translate it into production for southwestern 
Oregon. As has been stated, no reliable records for southwestern Oregon are available for this 
period, but the corresponding figure for the state's total production is a fair approximatian, 
and accurate after 1880. The ratio was 4.2: land 4: 1 was used to obtain the estimate of south­
western Oregon production for the period 1863-1901. 

(c) Authentic records from U.S.B.M. Ounces into dollars at $20 per ounce. 
(d) In 1934 the government price for gold was raised to $35 per ounce. 
(e) The effect of Government Order L-208, promulgated at the beginning of World War II in 1942, 

is strikingly shown by the production record. 
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As gold was not discovered in eastern Oregon unti I 1862, the reports of pro­
duction in the state from 1852 to 1862 represent production from southwestern 
Oregon, except a very small amount from camps in the Western Cascades. This 
early lO-year period, of course, included the large flush production which may 
have been as much as two-thirds of the total for the 50-year period, 1852-1902. 
Gold production in southwestern Oregon from 1852-1961 is summarized in the 
accompanying table and graph. 

Outlook 

What is the outlook for gold mining in Oregon? Prospects for any change 
in economic conditions that would narrow the gap between high operating costs 
in gold mining on the one hand and the fixed government price on the other 
look rather bleak. No matter what else may happen other than a deep depres­
sion, high costs, the principal element of which is labor, are here to stay. 
Then how about a rise in the price of go-ld? Economists do not agree on the 
effects of such a change, and as a matter of policy, official Washington must 
oppose it very definitely. 

An uncertain element in this murky situation is the effect of our contin­
uing loss of gold because of the unfavorable balance of payments in our inter­
national trade. But one thing is certain. There is a limit below which our gold 
stock may not go wi thout destroyi ng confi dence in the doll ar • What is that 
limit? Probably no one knows, and Washington doesn't like to talk about dis­
agreeable subjects. 
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STOCKPILE POLICY THREATENS MERCURY INDUSTRY 

The Atomic Energy Commission has recently declared some 50,000 flasks of mer­
cury excess to its requirements and turned this material over to the General Ser­
vices Administration for disposal. This is a part of the AEC stocks of mercury 
wh i ch it has collected over the last 9 years. 

While in 1953 the stockpile authorities professed there was no need of ad­
ditional mercury for defense purposes, in 1954 the AEC requested that GSA ac­
quire 170,000 flasks of mercury at the earliest possible moment. It is under­
stood that AEC removed from the Strategic Defense Stockpile approximately half 
of the total mercury in the stockpile. In addition, it contracted through barter 
for additional amounts of metal from foreign sources (Spain and Italy). Domes­
tic producers were not even given a chance to bid on these requirements. 

Industry estimates of total mercury in the hands of AEC would indicate that 
it had at least 225,000 flasks. How much of this material has been lost inproc­
essing is unknown but, if it follows general industry practice, an estimate of 
25,000 flasks might be an educated guess. Thus, the AEC should still have at 
least 100,000, and possibly 150,000, flasks in its possession. 

The 50,000 flasks declared excess represents almost a normal year's U. S. 
consumption. It represents 2~years or more of current U. S. production. Total 
AEC stocks of 200,000 flasks is, close to annual world consumption. 

In 1958, according to the U.S. Tariff Commission, 11 domestic mines sup­
plied 90 percent of U.S. production. Today three mines represent over 95 per­
cent of U.S. production, and eight other mines have closed because of stead­
ily declining prices and steadily increasing costs. In the last 4 years domestic 
production has dropped 50 percent. 

An estimated 90 percent or more of the AEC mercury stock is of foreign 
origin and came into the U. S. without payment of duty. If any appreciable 
part of this 50,000 flasks is placed on the domestic market, it can only result 
in declining price and very possibly the forced closure of all domestic mines. 
Even if it is not placed on the market, the mere fact that it overhangs the mar­
ket will almost certainly result in a reduction of domestic production by 25 
percent, or possibly more. In any event, the net result of this surplus disposal 
will mean an abandonment of almost all exploration and development programs 
were such programs even being considered. 

It is ironic to note that the government is financ~ng one of its largest mer­
cury exploration programs in Alaska at the present time; one branch of the gov­
ernment endeavoring to increase production of mercury while another branch 
of the government, in effect, may well destroy the whole industry. 

California has been for almost 100 years the principal producer of mercury 
in the U.S. Nevada, Alaska, Oregon, Idaho, and Texas have been important 
producers, and ,Arizona, Arkansas, and Washington have made some contribution 
to domestic production. 
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While disposal of strategic metal stockpiles and Defense Production Act 
stockpile requires Congressional approval, surpluses of material in excess of 
requirements already in the hands of other government agencies can be disposed 
of under ordinary surplus property laws and regulations. Thus, if this material 
is not put back in the strategic stockpile by the AEC it will hang over the mar­
ket and could be declared surplus and dumped on 24 hours' notice. Manifestly, 
no industry can continue under such conditions. The American Quicksilver In~ 
stitute estimates that probably not more than one mine could last as long as a 
year, and even this is somewhat problematical. 

During thelas.t§~vert::j months the mercury market has been weakened by 
the threat of Russian and Chinese mercury shipments. The domestic industry, 
facing labor costs five times as high as 20 years ago and prices which increased 
only two and a quarter times in that same period, has found it extremely dif­
ficult to continue under normal circumstances. This government action in re­
gard to mercury would seem almost inevitably to mean the end of the mercury 
industry . 

* * * * * 

RE-ENTRY PERMIT ISSUED 

The Department of Geology and Mineral Industries issued a permit to Marvin 
C. Lewis of Salem, Oregon, on June 5, 1963 authorizing re-entry of an oil 
test hole which was drilled by the Reserve Oil & Gas Co. of San Francisco, 
California, in 1960. "Roy-L&G-Bruer 1" was drilled to a depth of 5, 549 feet 
by Reserve and then abandoned. Cement plugs will be drilled out in order to 
test zones whi ch Lewis and associates bel ieve to be productive. The well is 
I oca ted in sec. 31, T. 6 S., R. 4 W., Pol k Coun ty . 

* * * * * 

GE OCHEMICAL SAMPLING PROGRAM TO BEGIN 

The Board of Governors of the Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral 
Industries has approved a long-range plan for the Department to begin a state­
wide geochemical sampling program. The plan is to sample sediments of the 
streams for trace amounts of minerals that in turn may indicate the presence of 
ore deposits. This information will be plotted on maps for ready reference by 
interested persons. The program would start in a modest" way by sampling in the 
areas that are most likely to have mineralization, and then over a period of 
years be extended throughout the entire state. Testing will be for three metals, 
copper, zinc, and molybdenum. These three metals were chosen because they 
occur either.as ore or as iDdicators of the main types of de!,?sits that might be 
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expected. Copper and molybdenum would indicate porphyry type deposits; 
copper and zinc would indicate epithermal gold, silver, and base-metal de­
posits; and molybdenum would point to pegmatite deposits containing tungsten 
and molybdenum. 

The project will be carried on mainly by student labor, supervised by R.G. 
Bowen, Economic Geologist on the department staff. Initial sampling will be 
done by following roads and taking samples at stream crossings. Analysiso£.the 
samples will be made in the Portland office of the department, again by students, 
using standard rapid chemical analytical procedures. When anomalous concen­
trations of metal are found, they will be checked by department geologists to 
see if the source of the metal can be ascertained. Publication of the data will 
be in the form of maps with symbols to indicate sample location and amount of 
elements present. 

Geochemical testing can do no more than indicate areas where ore deposits 
may exist. The object of the program is to target areas for further exploration 
by individuals or companies looking for mineral deposits. 

Large-scale geochemical sampling programs are being conducted in Russia 
in conjunction with all of its geologic mapping. Most other countries do not 
have such ambitious programs. In Canada, Nova Scotia has conducted a large­
scale stream-sediment sampling project similar to the one planned in Oregon. 
In the United States, most of the geochemical prospecting is being carried out 
by mining companies. The U. S. Geological Survey is doing research in de­
veloping new prospecting methods and is sampling in selected districts. 

* * * * * 

STATE GEOLOGISTS TAKE STAND ON WILDERNESS BILL 

At a meeting May 7th in Morgantown, West Virginia, the following resolution 
was adopted by the members of the Association of American State Geologists: 

Whereas, it is recognized that there exists a present and future need 
for the public preservation of open space, including natural areas, for 
the enjoyment and benefit of present and future generations; and 

Whereas, the Wilderness Bill (S 4) as passed by the Senate would greatly 
hinder -- if not virtually negate -- the beneficial development of 
our Nation's mineral resources; 

Now, therefore, the Association of American State Geologists, in 
annual meeting assembled, respectfully urges that favorable consid­
eration be given .to revising this Senate Bill, before its final enactment, 
along the lines of HR 776 (1962). 

* * * * * 
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